

About this report

This report reviews the available evidence of the economic effects of abortion access. By synthesizing high-quality research that estimates causal effects, this review highlights the relationship between abortion access and a number of economic outcomes, including women's educational attainment, labor force participation, and other socioeconomic indicators for the next generation of men and women. This report focuses on U.S.-based evidence, most of which relies on policy changes in the 1970s, but also includes a brief review of international evidence and an examination of the fertility effects of more recent changes to abortion access. The report closes with a discussion on policy implications, conclusions, and areas for future research, given the evidence on the causal relationship between abortion access and economic outcomes.

About the Institute for Women's Policy Research

The Institute for Women's Policy Research (IWPR) conducts and communicates research to inspire public dialogue, shape policy, and improve the lives and opportunities of women of diverse backgrounds, circumstances, and experiences. The Institute's research strives to give voice to the needs of women from diverse ethnic and racial backgrounds across the income spectrum and to ensure that their perspectives enter the public debate on ending discrimination and inequality, improving opportunity, and increasing economic security for women and families. The Institute works with policymakers, scholars, and public interest groups to design, execute, and disseminate research and to build a diverse network of individuals and organizations that conduct and use women-oriented policy research. IWPR's work is supported by foundation grants, government grants and contracts, donations from individuals, and contributions from organizations and corporations. IWPR is a 501(c)(3) tax exempt organization that also works in collaboration with the Program on Gender Analysis in Economics, Department of Economics, College of Liberal Arts and Sciences, American University.

Board of Directors

Lorretta Johnson, Chair American Federation of Teachers, AFL-CIO

Martha Darling, Vice Chair Boeing (retired)

Daisy Chin-LorDaisy Chin-Lor & Associates

Hilary Doe NationBuilder

Beth GruppBeth Grupp Associates

Rhiana Gunn-Wright New Consensus

Mary Hansen American University

Esmeralda O. Lyn Worldwide Capital Advisory Partners LLC

Joan Marsh AT&T

William RodgersRutgers University

Kristin Rowe-Finkbeiner MomsRising

Elizabeth Shuler AFL-CIO

Marci B. Sternheim Sternheim Consulting

Sheila W. Wellington NYU/Stern School of Business Emerita

IWPR #B379

© Copyright 2019 by the Institute for Women's Policy Research

The Economic Effects of Abortion Access: A Review of the Evidence

Anna Bernstein, MPH & Kelly M. Jones, PhD

Acknowledgements

This report was made possible by the support of the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, as part of the Institute for Women's Policy Research's Center on the Economics of Reproductive Health. IWPR would like to thank Dr. Rachel K. Jones, Principal Research Scientist at the Guttmacher Institute, Dr. Jason Lindo, Professor of Economics at Texas A&M University, and Jocelyn Frye, Senior Fellow at the Center for American Progress, for their helpful feedback on this report.

The authors would also like to thank the IWPR staff involved in the creation of this report. The report was reviewed by Dr. Heidi Hartmann, President and CEO, Dr. Barbara Gault, Vice-President and Executive Director, Dr. Cynthia Hess, Associate Director of Research, Dr. Chandra Childers and Elyse Shaw, Study Directors. Jennifer Clark, Director of Communications, and Nicolas Martinez, Communications Associate, oversaw the production and dissemination of the report.

Highlights

A large body of research has examined the effects of abortion access on fertility and health outcomes. A number of studies have also established associations between abortion access and economic outcomes. This paper summarizes a smaller body of literature that identifies the *causal* impacts of abortion access on economic outcomes, indicating how women's economic security is directly affected by access to abortion.

• Educational attainment:

- Abortion access reduced teen fertility, particularly for Black women who had lower levels of access to contraception. This allowed Black women greater opportunity to pursue further education.
- Abortion legalization in the 1970s increased Black women's rates of high school graduation and college attendance.
- Among White women, abortion access lowered teen fertility but did not improve educational outcomes.

Labor force participation:

- o Abortion access increased women's participation in the workforce overall.
- Effects were stronger for Black women, increasing participation by 6.9 percentage points, compared with 2 percentage points among all women.
- Other effects: Abortion access reduced unintended births. Cohorts of children were more likely to be planned, and, as a result, had improved educational and economic outcomes, both during childhood and later in life.

• International evidence:

- A limited number of studies have used rigorous econometric methods to find causal effects of abortion access in other countries.
- Many findings from other country contexts are similar to those from the United States: abortion access increased educational attainment among women and improved outcomes for children. Decreased fertility increased women's labor market participation.

• Evidence from policy changes in the 1970s has relevance for today's policy decisions:

- Unintended pregnancies were higher in 2015-2017 than in 1973. Research examining
 the effects of more recent restrictions on abortion access and funding shows
 significant impacts on abortion use, birth rates, and teen births.
- While high school education is nearly universal, lack of access to abortion would likely continue to impact college completion, especially for Black women, who have lower completion rates, compared with other groups of women.
- Women's labor force participation continues to be affected by childbearing. The
 relationship between female labor force participation and changes to abortion access
 today would likely be similar to estimates based on earlier policy changes.
- Although the most important implication of abortion access is individuals' ability to make and execute decisions about their reproductive life, changes to abortion access also affect one's economic outcomes, including educational and labor market indicators.

Table of Contents

Highlights	V
Introduction	2
Pathways for Impacting Economic Outcomes	3
Women's Outcomes	3
Children's Outcomes	4
Methods for Identifying Causal Impacts	4
Changes in Access in the 1970s	4
Changes in Access in the Post-Roe Period	6
Evidence from U.S. Policies in the 1970s	7
Educational Attainment	7
Labor Market Outcomes	8
The Next Generation	10
International Evidence	13
Related Evidence from Recent U.S. Policies	14
Parental Notification & Consent	15
Medicaid Funding	15
Targeted Regulation of Abortion Providers (TRAP) Laws	16
Research Methods and Avenues for Further Research	16
Limitations	17
Future Research	18
Discussion	19
Differential Impacts by Race	19
Policy Implications: Are Effects from the 1970s Relevant Today?	20
Appendix. Articles Reviewed	24
References	27

Introduction

Deciding whether and when to have a child is central to a woman's economic well-being. It has implications for continuing education and joining the workforce, which can affect other long-term economic outcomes, as has been supported by existing literature (Sonfield et al. 2013). Often omitted from this research, however, is the role of access to induced abortion—one means available to women to control their fertility. In 2011, 45 percent of all pregnancies in the United States were unintended and four in 10 unintended pregnancies ended in abortion (Finer and Zolna 2016).

The legalization of abortion has been linked to a decrease in birth rates, particularly among teen, unwed, and non-White women, as well as women over 35 (Levine et al. 1999). Evidence suggests that the decrease in fertility rates caused by abortion legalization has been permanent, with women having fewer children over their lifetime (Ananat, Gruber, and Levine 2007).

In the years since nationwide legalization, access to abortion still depends largely on state policies. This results both from restrictions on the use of federal Medicaid funds for abortion, as well as the latitude the courts have given states to set abortion regulations. State-specific regulations have often disproportionately restricted access for low-income women, younger women and girls, and women of color. These groups of women face structural barriers accessing different aspects of reproductive health care and are also overrepresented among abortion patients (Jones and Jerman 2017b). This is likely due to a number of complex and interrelated factors, including lack of access to contraceptive care and mistrust of provider-controlled methods.

Although the impacts of abortion legalization and restrictive policies on abortion and birth rates have been fairly well-studied, there is less research available examining the other effects of these policies. Beyond the proximate health effects of being able to access abortion care, there are also important economic consequences. As such, financial and socioeconomic factors are among the most common reasons cited for seeking an abortion (Biggs, Gould, and Foster 2013; Kirkman et al. 2009).

A number of studies have demonstrated associations between abortion use and economic outcomes, such as educational attainment and employment status (Zabin, Hirsch, and Emerson 1989; Fergusson, Boden, and Horwood 2007). But it is difficult to ascertain from these studies whether the improved outcomes are a direct result of abortion access, or whether they stem from the characteristics of women who choose to seek and are able to obtain access to abortion Even when controlling for observable characteristics such as race, education, and even income, there are myriad unobserved characteristics that could be driving both abortion use and later life outcomes. For this reason, ascertaining the causal

impact of abortion access on economic outcomes requires more than an analysis of associations.

This report synthesizes the highest quality evidence available regarding the economic effects of abortion access. A number of studies have found causal links between abortion and the economic well-being of women and their children. By isolating the effects of access to abortion on education, employment, wages, and poverty, these studies demonstrate the economic value of access. This review will introduce the theoretical framework guiding these studies and then discuss the most important findings of each and potential limitations to be acknowledged when considering the results. In addition to a discussion and synthesis of overall conclusions, this paper offers potential areas of future research and relevant policy implications.

Pathways for Impacting Economic Outcomes

Women's Outcomes

There are multiple potential pathways through which abortion access may affect women's economic outcomes. The first is through lowering fertility, which has several direct economic implications. Having fewer children increases a woman's ability to participate in the labor market. Holding household income constant, an additional child reduces the resources available for other family members and can push a household closer to or below the poverty line. Further, both delayed childbearing and reduced fertility allow women to invest more heavily in their human capital, including increased schooling and job training, which can lead to higher-paying jobs and greater economic security.

The effects of abortion access on fertility are well-documented. Greater access to abortion led to higher abortion rates and lower birth rates, whereas major restrictions on access and funding decreased abortion rates (Ananat, Gruber, and Levine 2007; Guldi 2008; Gober 1997; Haas-Wilson 1996; Levine 2003). One study estimated a four percent reduction in the fertility rate as a result of abortion legalization in the 1970s, and that estimated reduction would have been even larger—11 percent—if women had not been traveling out-of-state to obtain legal abortions before legalization in their state of residence (Levine et al. 1999). Notably, rather than simply delaying fertility, abortion legalization resulted in a permanent reduction in lifetime fertility for women exposed to reform (Ananat, Gruber, and Levine 2007).

Abortion access may also affect economic factors through pathways other than fertility, including changing women's expectations about their ability to control their fertility. In

response to these changes in expectations, women may make different decisions about their education, the timing of marriage and family formation, and their careers. Additionally, increases in women's control over their reproductive outcomes may empower women within their households, changing their access to resources and ability to control their own economic paths.¹ These shifts may lead to a broader impact on women at the population level, even for those who never experience an unintended pregnancy.

Children's Outcomes

Due to the demonstrated effects of abortion access on fertility outcomes, the cohorts of children born after these policy changes may have different outcomes than earlier cohorts. For instance, children's outcomes on average may have improved because of an increased likelihood of being planned or because of a decrease in births into adverse circumstances. Alternatively, the composition of births may have a higher proportion from poor socioeconomic backgrounds if the most disadvantaged women are unable to access abortion services. Given the time at which the earliest policy changes occurred, we can now study both the child *and* adult characteristics of cohorts born during those changes, including poverty, employment, and education outcomes.

Methods for Identifying Causal Impacts

Changes in Access in the 1970s

In order to identify causal impacts of access to abortion, the majority of the available research takes advantage of the variation of abortion legalization in the United States in the early 1970s. Five states (California, New York, Washington, Alaska, and Hawaii) had legalized abortion prior to *Roe v. Wade* in 1973; these are often referred to as "repeal" states, as four of the five legalized abortion by repealing anti-abortion laws.² In the remaining 45 states, abortion became widely available only after the 1973 decision. This variation provides two natural experiments: a "treatment" of legalization in those five initial states, and then a subsequent treatment when the remaining states changed their legality of abortion after *Roe* (Levine et al. 1999).

_

¹ Oreffice (2007) offers evidence that abortion access changes women's bargaining power, as observed through increases in men's labor supply in married and cohabitating couples. She isolates this pathway from fertility, holding constant number of children and the presence of infants and young children in the household. She also predicts that the increased bargaining power would decrease women's labor supply, though this is unconvincing given the complications introduced by unobserved levels of housework.

² An additional 10-13 other states are often dubbed "reform" states as they made more modest changes to existing abortion bans prior to *Roe*. Some states only allowed abortion in restrictive circumstances, such as rape and threat to the life of the mother. Other states included physical and mental harm to the pregnant woman as exceptions; some states with these reform laws had abortion ratios even higher than some "repeal" states.

Importantly, this strategy relies on variation in women's legal access by state, and that legality is only one marker of access. Some women in non-repeal states may have had de facto access prior to Roe, as they were able to cross state lines to access care and evidence suggests that inter-state abortion seeking is significant.³ Cost is also a major barrier to access, as most states do not allow their state Medicaid funds to cover abortion (other than in a few limited circumstances). Many states go further by placing restrictions on coverage of abortion by private insurance plans. This is particularly relevant for studies of more recent changes, as state laws restricting funding of abortion began after *Roe*. These policies place the burden of cost on the patient, unlike other medical procedures, and disproportionately impact those with low incomes. Beyond legality and cost, actual access to a provider determines whether women are able to obtain abortions; this is highly dependent on area of residence, density of providers, and access to affordable transportation. Again, more vulnerable groups, such as younger and lower-income women, are less likely to be able to overcome barriers in physical access. Restrictions that cause clinics to close increase travel distance to the nearest provider, and those that require multiple visits increase transportation and related costs. Due to this lack of perfect correlation between legal and actual access, effects estimated in these studies are almost certainly underestimated.

The studies reviewed here take one of two general approaches. Some studies estimate the direct impact of abortion availability on economic outcomes of interest, including the impact through all pathways, fertility and otherwise (typically referred to as "reduced form estimation"). Other studies focus on the impact that is operating through the fertility pathway only, essentially estimating the impact of *fertility* on economic outcomes. In this method, the researchers recognize that many factors affect both fertility and economic outcomes, which may confound an estimation of causal impact. Therefore, they rely on an instrumental variables strategy, which estimates the economic outcome of interest as a function of predicted (rather than actual) fertility. In this case, fertility is predicted by factors out of the woman's control (i.e. abortion legalization) and by observable characteristics for which we can control in the estimation. In this way, one estimates the impact of fertility on the outcome of interest, absent the role of unobservable confounding factors. This method estimates the impacts of abortion on economic outcomes that are specific to the fertility pathway, which may underestimate the full population effects.

How can we be sure that these studies are identifying the impact of abortion access? The 1970s were a time of rapid social changes, many of which affected women's desires and abilities to control their fertility, obtain education, and invest in their careers. These changes included, for example, increased contraceptive access, Title IX of the Education

-

³ Forty-two percent of legal abortions that occurred in 1972 were obtained by women outside of their state of residence (Ted Joyce, Tan, and Zhang 2013).

Amendments of 1972 (which prohibits sex discrimination in federally-funded educational programs, including on the basis of pregnancy and parenting status), and improved workplace protections. In the work highlighted here, researchers are careful to isolate the changes in outcomes that are arising as a result of abortion access, rather than these other social changes of the times.

Two key econometric techniques are employed to ensure that the estimates represent causal impacts. First, controlling for time trends (and/or year-fixed effects⁴) captures other social changes of the time that would affect these outcomes and ensures that only changes occurring with the exact state-specific timing of changes in abortion access are considered. In this way, changes occurring over time are not conflated with changes that occur as a result of abortion legalization. Researchers typically allow such trends to vary by state, controlling for state-specific time trends. Second, researchers account for the fact that states choosing to repeal abortion restrictions prior to Roe v. Wade (a major source of variation in these studies) are different from other states in many ways that may also affect women's outcomes. Therefore, researchers also use state-fixed effects to compare women only to other women from the same state, before vs. after the policy change. Given these techniques, any other factor that may affect these outcomes of interest would need to align with changes in abortion access (in both timing and location) in order to be driving the results presented here. None of the key confounding factors (contraceptive access, Title IX, etc.) have a perfect alignment; nonetheless, these indicators are often also included as controls to reduce noise in the estimation.

Changes in Access in the Post-Roe Period

Although abortion reforms in the 1970s provide useful natural experiments of the effects of abortion access, they occurred in an environment that was different socially, politically, and economically than today. Thus, there are natural limitations to what these findings imply for policy today. In section 9, we fully discuss how evidence from 40-year-old policy changes can have relevance today.

Another body of research examines the effects of changes to abortion access that have occurred in more recent decades. Such changes include parental involvement laws, mandatory waiting periods, restrictions on state Medicaid funding for abortion, and targeted regulation of abortion providers (or TRAP laws). Perhaps the most well-known, and well-studied, of these laws is Texas House Bill 2 (HB2), which was signed into law in 2013 and led to the subsequent closing of half of the state's abortion clinics; two of the three

⁴ Year-fixed effects indicate the use of dummy variables for individual years so that one effectively estimates "within-year," ensuring that other changes occurring over time are not conflated with changes that occur as a result of abortion legalization.

provisions of the law were struck down by the U.S. Supreme Court in 2016. Methods of estimation vary, but are generally similar to those described above, using econometric techniques to isolate the impacts of the policy of interest, despite the possibility of concurrent confounding factors.

This body of work does not yet directly evaluate economic outcomes, but looks at impacts on births, pregnancies, abortion timing, and other factors which are on the pathway to affecting economic indicators.

Evidence from U.S. Policies in the 1970s

Educational Attainment

Key Findings: What are the effects of abortion access on educational attainment?

The reduced teen fertility offered by abortion access allowed women to pursue further education, particularly Black women. Black women exposed to abortion reform had higher rates of high school graduation and college attendance than unexposed Black women.

Conversely, reductions in teen fertility for White women exposed to reforms were smaller and did not translate into improved educational outcomes.

Angrist and Evans (2000) use the legality of abortion by state to estimate the effects of teen childbearing and births to unmarried women on schooling and labor market outcomes. They employ a fifteen-state classification that includes ten "reform" states where abortion laws were relaxed in addition to the five "repeal" states (Sklar and Berkov 1974).

Angrist and Evans use 1980 and 1990 Census data to examine characteristics of cohorts who were born 1949-1954 to capture women exposed to state reforms as teenagers, or born 1955-1959 to capture the effects of nationwide access following the *Roe* ruling during their teenage years. The authors focus primarily on the earlier cohort, which was exposed to the earlier state-based abortion reforms, as they find little effect of national abortion legalization. They conclude that the larger change in abortion access actually came from the repeals and reforms that occurred in 1970 and earlier. This may be due in part to the fact that the authors used the fifteen-state classification scheme rather than the five-state coding

model, as other studies included in this review found the 1973 ruling to have a significant effect on various outcomes.

Overall, this study finds notable effects of births to teens and unmarried women on the educational outcomes of Black women exposed to the earlier state reforms. The first-stage results demonstrate changes in teen fertility due to abortion reform: three years of adolescent exposure to abortion access appear to have caused a five percent reduction in teen births to White teenagers and a nearly 10 percent reduction in the number of births to Black teenagers. These changes in teen childbearing led to statistically significant increases in education for Black women. Instrumental variable estimates suggest that unmarried Black women who had a teen birth reduced their chances of high school graduation by 17 to 35 percentage points, and college entrance by 52 percentage points.⁵

What is driving the race gap in these impacts? In 1973, 59 percent of Black women had unmet contraceptive needs (compared with 32 percent of White women). Similarly, 59 percent of Black women's recent pregnancies had been unintended (compared with 34 percent for White women). This indicates that changes in abortion access had a bigger effect for women who lacked access to a broad array of reproductive health services, including Black women. Race gaps in unmet need and unintended pregnancy persist today, as discussed in greater detail in section 9.

Labor Market Outcomes

Key Findings: What are the effects of abortion access on labor market outcomes?

Existing research suggests that greater access to abortion increased women's future participation in the workforce—the probability of working 40 weeks or more per year increased almost 2 percentage points (from 29 percent) after the legalization of abortion.

Workforce and employment effects were particularly strong for Black women, who were 8 percentage points more likely than White women to be working before abortion reform; after reform, labor force participation among Black women increased 6.9 percentage points.

In addition to Angrist and Evans' results pertaining to education, their study also finds effects on labor market outcomes. Their reduced form equation estimates that for Black

⁵ Two-stage least square (2SLS) estimates from Table 7, panel C. 2SLS estimates for college graduation are not provided.

women as a whole, exposure to abortion reforms in adolescence increased employment at ages 26-40 by 1.6% (1.2 percentage points, from a base of 75 percent). When using the instrumental variable approach, they find that a birth to an unmarried Black teen reduces her probability of future employment by 47-58 percent (or 34 to 42 percentage points on a basis of 72 percent). The reforms, however, were not associated with an increase in Black women's earnings. The authors contend that any earnings effect might have been too far downstream from these abortion reforms and therefore too small to be detected in this study. An earnings effect may also be obscured by the fact that Black women have been and are disproportionately represented in occupations with the lowest pay. Many of these lowwage occupations also have limited opportunities and pathways for career advancement and workers in these jobs often need additional training or education to move to higher-paying jobs (Shaw et al. 2016).

Kalist (2004) uses a similar approach to that of Angrist and Evans (AE) to further examine the effect of abortion on female labor force participation, with the outcome of interest being the probability of a woman working 40 or more weeks a year. He examines women aged 15 to 44 and considers immediate labor market outcomes during the 1968-1972 period.

Kalist's analysis differs from AE in a few key ways. He uses data from the March Current Population Survey (CPS) rather than the decennial Census. Kalist also uses the classification of five repeal states, with the addition of the District of Columbia. He treats only the smaller group of states as having legal abortion because earlier research showed that it was the early repeals in those five states, and not the modestly relaxed laws in the ten "reform" states, that decreased birth rates (Levine et al. 1999). Consistent with these findings, Kalist adds a dummy variable for these more modest reforms to his equation and does not find any effect on labor force participation from them.

Instead of an instrumental variable approach, Kalist uses a reduced form approach to estimate the effects of repeals before *Roe*.⁶ Results suggest that among the full population of Black women, labor force participation increased by nearly six percentage points as a result of abortion restriction repeals (on a basis of 29 percent for all women in the sample), with little effect on the participation of White women. This suggests either extremely large impacts of unwanted births among the women who had them, or significant non-fertility pathways of impact, such as a change to expectations and human capital investment—in their education and training, for instance—due to abortion access (or some combination of both).

_

⁶ This work also features an analysis of the impacts of *Roe*, employing a triple difference specification that relies on comparisons of before vs. after *Roe*, repeal vs. non-repeal status prior to *Roe*, and Black vs. White. These results are not included here as the author's interpretation of the coefficients is not correct, giving rise to concerns that the analysis for this section may also be incorrect.

The Next Generation

Key Findings: What are the effects of abortion access on the next generation?

Based on the literature reviewed here, abortion access not only had economic effects for women exposed to reforms, but also for the subsequent generation. As abortion reduced unintended births, cohorts of births were more likely to be planned. This improved educational and economic outcomes, both during childhood and later in life.

Children born to women exposed to abortion reform had lower rates of poverty and receipt of public assistance during childhood, primarily due to a reduction in living with single parents. They were also more likely to graduate from college, and less likely to be single parents or receive public assistance as adults. Increases in high school graduation were only found for Black men, who were among the most disadvantaged groups in terms of graduation.

The Turnaway Study was a prospective, longitudinal study that followed women who sought abortion care at various facilities in the United States over a five-year period (ANSIRH 2019). This study is the only one included in this review that deviates from the methodology described in section 3. Rather than relying on policy changes, this study followed the outcomes of women over time—all of the women studied sought an abortion, but some did not receive one due to missing the term-limit cutoff, which varies across state and provider. While this study was conducted from 2008 to 2016, it is presented in this section as it contributes to our understanding of the economic impacts of abortion on the next generation, as do the other studies in this section. These studies on the next generation build on earlier Turnaway findings that found that women denied a wanted abortion were more likely than those who received an abortion to experience economic hardship and insecurity, even years out from the denial of abortion (Foster, Biggs, Ralph, et al. 2018).

An analysis by **Foster**, **Raifman**, **Gipson**, **Rocca**, **and Biggs** (2018) found that existing children in the households of women who were denied abortions were more likely to be living below the federal poverty level (FPL) several years later than existing children of women who received abortions. While this may reflect the economic burden of additional children, a second analysis by **Foster**, **Biggs**, **Raifman**, **Gipson**, **Kimport**, **and Rocca** (2018) holds constant this pathway: the children born as a result of denied abortions were more likely to live below the FPL and to live in households unable to afford basic living expenses, compared with *subsequent children* born to women who received abortions. This indicates that, beyond the number of children in the household, denied abortions resulted in additional economic hardship that continued for several years and signals that control over timing of childbearing is as economically important as total childbearing.

The remainder of studies in this section rely on population-level data and policy changes as discussed in section 3 ("Methods for Identifying Causal Impacts"). These studies primarily focus on the selection pathway. That is, when abortion is legalized, the composition of births may change to include fewer births to economically-disadvantaged and/or unintentional parents. A number of studies have examined the effects of this selection on fetal outcomes, as well as the effects on birthrates. In this review we discuss only the studies that examine the impacts on economic well-being for cohorts of living children.

Gruber, Levine, and Staiger (1999) use a difference-in-differences strategy to compare childhood poverty rate trends in the five repeal states relative to other states. The authors use 1980 Census data, which allow for the creation of cohorts based on state of birth while also offering the advantage of having a large enough sample size to detect modest changes in the average living circumstances of a cohort (approximately 2.4 million observations, aggregated into 750 observations of 50 states and 15 birth year cohorts). They compare how poverty status changed between cohorts born just after a repeal in "repeal" states to those born just before. To account for how poverty may have been changing over time in the absence of abortion legislation, they then difference this from how poverty changes across those two cohorts in non-repeal states.

Although estimates are imprecise, the authors find evidence of selection effects on the average living child in terms of poverty status. Results show that abortion legalization reduced the percentage of the cohort living in poverty by 0.54 percentage points (from a base of 18.7 percent). Findings are similar for receipt of welfare: abortion legalization lowered the rates of welfare receipt by 0.41 percentage points from an average of 10.6 percent. The authors also find reductions in the share of children living in single-parent households (by 0.87 percentage points, from a base of 18.6 percent), which have greater odds of being below the poverty level. The authors conduct additional analyses while stratifying by family structure and found that the changes in poverty found were driven entirely by corresponding changes in family structure distribution. This means that fewer children were living in poverty due to a reduction in the odds of living in a single-parent household rather than a change to the average parental income.

Estimates are also provided for the child that would have been born in the absence of abortion legalization. Compared with the average child born into that cohort, the estimates suggest that the averted child would have been 48 percent more likely to live in poverty, with their poverty rates 9.3 percentage points higher (from a base of 18.8 percent). The averted child would have also been 44 percent more likely to use public assistance, with rates 4.8 percentage points higher (from a base of 10.6 percent).

The time that has passed since abortion legalization in the United States offers the opportunity to study the impact of abortion availability on the later life outcomes of the next generation as well. **Ananat, Gruber, Levine, and Staiger** (2009) (AGLS) examine those cohorts' outcomes during adulthood. Building on Gruber, Levine, and Staiger (1999) (GLS), the authors extend the set of instrumental variables to include travel distance to the nearest state where abortion is legal, and "latent cost" of abortion in that state, which takes into account many factors, such as high levels of social stigma against abortion. Places with high latent costs are those where you would expect lower rates of abortion even when it is legal. This is determined using a measure of states' political attitudes combined with a measure of illegal abortion rates by state before 1970.

This paper uses Census data (from 2000) to capture adult characteristics of cohorts born between 1965 and 1979. Their estimates suggest that abortion legalization shifted the distribution of education upward, with the odds of graduating college increasing among cohorts after legalization. Similar effects are found for receipt of public assistance and odds of being a single parent. A child that would have been born in the absence of abortion access would have been 12 to 31 percent less likely to graduate college and 73 to 194 percent more likely to receive public assistance, as compared with existing cohorts. These results support the findings of GLS that cohort outcomes improved with abortion legalization. AGLS did not find significant results for high school graduation rates, a topic further explored by Stephan Whitaker.

Whitaker (2011) uses a research design similar to AGLS to examine effects of abortion access on high school graduation rates of the next generation. Whitaker uses individual-level data and ethnicity controls, however, rather than an estimation of the percentage of the cohort that is non-White. In contrast to AGLS, Whitaker finds improvements only for Black men, whose high school graduation rates increased. His results indicate insignificant change in high school graduation rates for other groups and on the aggregate (in a fully controlled model). This likely reflects the smaller room for improvement among other groups.

These studies, taken together, provide evidence that abortion legalization increased the economic status of later generations during childhood and potentially increased certain educational outcomes (such as high school and college graduation) later in life. These impacts operated both through improving the economic status of parents, as well as changing the composition of births so that a higher proportion are born to more-advantaged parents.

International Evidence

Key Findings: What is the evidence from other countries?

A limited number of studies use similar methods to find causal effects of abortion access in other countries. Many findings from other country contexts are similar to those from the United States: higher educational attainment among women with increased abortion access, worse outcomes for children as a result of restricted abortion access, and lower women's labor market participation with increased fertility.

In the case of Romania, an extreme natural experiment occurred when family planning and abortion were banned in 1966, where abortion had previously been the primary means through which women controlled their fertility. **Pop-Eleches** (2006) examines the impact of this abortion ban on the socioeconomic outcomes of the children of the next generation. In contrast to the expanded access studied in the United States, this analysis finds favorable economic and educational outcomes as a result of restricting access. The probability of finishing high school increased by four percentage points from a base of 46 percent and the probability of attending college increased 0.6 percentage points from an average of 9.1 percent. This resulted from the fact that, prior to the ban, highly educated women were more likely to have an abortion (unlike in the United States). As such, the ban resulted in an increase in births to more educated households. When controlling for those compositional changes, however, children born after the ban actually had worse schooling and labor market outcomes. The probability of finishing high school then decreased 1.7 percentage points from an average of 51.2 percent, and the probability of graduating from college decreased by 1.5 percentage points from a base of 13.2 percent. Pop-Eleches finds this is largely due to increased crowding in schools as cohort sizes grew. Of course, this analysis not only used a natural experiment far more drastic than any policy changes experienced in the United States, but also took place in an environment that is different socially, politically, and culturally.

In Norway, **Mølland** (2016) studies the impact of teen access to abortion on women's outcomes, relying on the fact that Oslo granted access to teens before the rest of the country. Using a differences-in-differences approach, this study examines effects on fertility, education, and labor market outcomes, as well as selected outcomes of those women's first-born children. Mølland finds an increased probability of 1.8 percentage points, from a base of 24 percent, of college completion, as well as a smaller (but still significant) effect on obtaining an advanced degree. Abortion access also led to higher labor force participation, particularly for women in their 20s and early 30s. Women with access also had improved

welfare outcome for their children, including higher employment and lower poverty as adults.

Bloom, Canning, and Fink (2009) use abortion legalization as an instrument to evaluate the effects of fertility on women's labor force participation across a panel of 97 countries, over 1960-2000. This analysis studies the effect of the total fertility rate and also looks at various other explanatory variables including urbanization, physical capital, infant mortality, and average years of schooling (of women and men). The authors find that each additional birth reduced total labor supply during the fertile years by 7.5 percentage points for each child born. Added up over the 25 years from ages 20 to 44, this translated to a loss of 1.9 years of work for each child born. This indicates that abortion access, shown to have reduced birth rates by 4 to 11 percent in the United States, would have significant impacts on women's labor force participation as well. A potential drawback of this study is the inability to capture differences among subgroups. As seen in the U.S. evidence, there are substantial differences across groups of women in the effects of abortion access. This study is unable to account for such differences and may mask those differential impacts.

Clarke and Mühlrad (2016) examine both abortion reforms and regressive abortion policies in Mexico to estimate impacts on both fertility and women's empowerment, as measured by their role in household decision-making. The study takes advantage of a legal environment in 2007 in which Mexico City made first trimester abortions legal and free of charge. In response to this reform, 18 other Mexican states modified their penal code to create harsher punishments for suspected abortion. Using a differences-in-differences approach, the authors find fertility declined by 3.7 percent for women in Mexico City and 6.9 percent for adolescents as a result of the reform. They also found that progressive abortion reform made women 10 percent more likely to report being involved in important decisions in the household. Conversely, the more punitive treatment of abortion in other states did not affect birth rates or rates of empowerment, indicating that legality and cost play a larger role than the severity of penalties in women's decisions to use abortion. This paper provides evidence that women's position in the household may be a pathway through which increased abortion access improves economic outcomes.

Related Evidence from Recent U.S. Policies

As noted above, research findings based on policy changes in the 1970s may have limited implications for policies today. In this section, we review the evidence regarding impacts of policy changes from the 1980s to today. Most of these studies are treated with brevity as

they study such outcomes as abortion usage and fertility outcomes; only one estimates impact of post-*Roe* policies on economic outcomes.

Parental Notification & Consent

Parental involvement laws are restrictions on abortion that require minors to either notify parents of an abortion or receive their consent to obtain the procedure. **Borelli** (2011) examines the impact of exposure to these laws during adolescence in the 1980s and 1990s on educational outcomes measured at ages 21 to 32. Although this analysis is limited by the lack of information on state of residence during teenage years, she includes fixed effects for state-of-birth, year-of-age, and five-year birth cohort. Although effects were small and insignificant for White women, exposure to a restrictive environment was associated with a lower probability of completing high school for Black women. In line with those results, small (but statistically significant) effects were found for completion of some college among White women, but larger effects are again found for Black women. Black women were five to seven percent less likely to complete some college in a restrictive environment, while the White women's probability of completing some college decreased by less than two percent.

Other studies have examined the impact of more recent changes in parental notification laws on fertility outcomes. **Joyce, Kaestner, and Colman** (2006) find that a Texas parental notification law passed in 2000 was associated with a decline in abortions among 15 to 17 year olds. Some studies have also found parental notification and mandatory waiting periods to be associated with an increase in minors' out-of-state travel for abortion (Dennis et al. 2009).

Myers and Ladd (2017) sought to update the body of evidence on parental notification and consent laws by looking at policies from 1992 to 2017. The year 1992 has significance in this context because it was the year of the Supreme Court's decision in *Planned Parenthood v. Casey,* which—while reaffirming *Roe*—allowed states to regulate abortion as long as those restrictions do not constitute an "undue burden" on the woman seeking an abortion. This marked the beginning of an upward trend in increasingly restrictive state policies. Using a difference-in-difference research design, the authors conclude that these laws increased births to teens by three percent and resulted in a half million additional teen births between 1992 and 2017. These effects varied greatly by avoidance distance, or how far a minor would have to travel to obtain a confidential abortion.

Medicaid Funding

Federal Medicaid funding was only available for abortion until the late 1970s, when the Hyde Amendment was first passed to prohibit its use. For the first several years after *Roe*, more low-income women may have actually been able to access abortion than today, before

funding restrictions were tightened. In contrast, the availability of *state* Medicaid funds for abortions has always been determined by individual states.

Evidence on the impacts of Medicaid funding restrictions primarily examines changes in the 1980s. Some studies find that restrictions decreased the abortion rate among the Medicaid-eligible population by 17 to 68 percent (Cook et al. 1999; Meier and McFarlane 1994; Morgan and Parnell 2002). Others have found no significant national impact on abortions or births (Matthews, Ribar, and Wilhelm 1997). Impacts of more recent restrictions on Medicaid funding (for family planning funding generally) have been examined only in combination with other restrictions, as described below.

Targeted Regulation of Abortion Providers (TRAP) Laws

From 2013 to 2014, over half of the abortion facilities in Texas closed due to implementation of a Targeted Regulation of Abortion Provider (TRAP) law known as HB2. The notable change in abortion access greatly increased the burden placed on women seeking abortions and contributed to a decrease in the abortion rate during that time (Gerdts et al. 2016; Grossman et al. 2017; Fuentes et al. 2016). Fischer, Royer, and White (2018) examine changes due to HB2, as well as a 67 percent cut in funding for Texas family planning clinics and the elimination of state Medicaid reimbursement for family planning services at Planned Parenthood clinics in the state. They find that, in counties that no longer had an abortion provider within 50 miles, the abortion rate fell 16.7 percent and the birth rate rose 1.3 percent. Lindo, Meyers, Schlosser, and Cunningham (2017) find that the clinic closures caused by HB2, and the increased distance women had to travel to reach a clinic, decreased the abortion rate by 10 percent for a 25 mile increase (when increased from a zero mile distance). This effect occurred primarily through congestion (measured by women served per clinic), as remaining clinics were forced to serve more women. In addition to contributing to increased travel distance, this delayed abortions to later gestations.

Although the main provisions of HB2 were eventually ruled unconstitutional, it is clear that abortion restrictions continue to be implemented, resulting in substantial impacts. Clinic access continues to fall at significant rates: in 1973, there were 1,558 abortion-providing facilities in the United States; this count reached a high of 2,908 in 1982, but has since fallen to 1,671 in 2014 (Jones and Jerman 2017a; Gius 2007).

Research Methods and Avenues for Further Research

To complete this review, we first focused only on studies that used methods that can convincingly estimate causal impacts of abortion access on economic outcomes (as

described in section 3). To do this, we conducted searches using PubMed, EconLit, JSTOR, and Google Scholar, with terms including an array of economic outcomes and terms to capture abortion access and restrictions. Citations of articles were used to identify additional papers for inclusion, and several studies were included after being suggested by external reviewers. We later expanded to include research on more recent legal changes, which examines the impacts on fertility outcomes. We also included a select number of rigorous studies from within the public health literature (i.e., analyses from the Turnaway study) that did not use causal econometric methods. We did not place limits on time of publication. We limited the studies to peer-reviewed literature other than a small number of working papers that were evaluated for their quality of methods.

Limitations

One of the difficulties in using the early reform and legalization states to examine effects of abortion is that access to abortion does not necessarily match legality of abortion. In the case of this body of literature, there has been an active debate about how best to categorize the different states based on the legal status of abortion pre-Roe. The most recent classification, suggested by Myers in 2017, identifies three categories of states: the repeal states, consisting of the five states and DC with legalized abortion; the reform states, consisting of 13 states with somewhat liberalized abortion laws; and the restrictive states, where abortion was not available under any circumstances (C. K. Myers 2017). Myers notes that reform states with increased access to—but not fully legalized—abortion had notable rates of abortion; in some cases those rates were higher than those of states where the procedure was legal. Records suggest that general concerns, such as "mental health," were the medical indication for a substantial number of abortions in "reform" states. The quality of data and requirements for abortion reporting varied by states, making comparisons of abortion rates more challenging. These variations in actual access to abortion have implications for the findings of studies that use the five-state classification scheme. If the majority of misclassification is due to higher than expected access in non-legalized states, then findings from these papers may be biased towards the null—meaning the true effects are greater than estimated.

Additionally, as noted earlier in this paper, interstate travel was common when abortion legality differed by state. Wealthier (and White) women likely had more mobility in traveling out-of-state to obtain a legal abortion. More advantaged women also had greater access to abortion services prior to legalization, which may partially explain why the effects of legality are stronger among Black women. Effects would be diminished for women who were able to access abortion care before it was reformed or legalized in their state of residence.

One potential limitation for studies examining teenagers, like the study by Angrist and Evans, is codifying the availability of abortion for teens in these reform states. Myers writes that "...in a given state in a given year between 1960 and 1976, a minor seeking reproductive services might be legally able to consent [without parental involvement] to neither contraception nor abortion, to both, or to one and not the other" (C. K. Myers 2017). Yet Angrist and Evans do not mention the legality of abortion for minors specifically. This is particularly relevant as they are examining women who were teenagers during the reforms. Age of consent was just transitioning from 21 to 18 over the late 1960s and early 1970s; even in states with an age of consent of 18, this misses the exposed years of 14-17 that are included in their sample.

Given that this and other studies do find impacts of these reforms on teen fertility, it seems likely that these are lower bound estimates arising from teens' access via their parents' consent. Accurately coding reforms to reflect the difference between confidential vs. parental involvement access would likely result in higher estimated impacts on fertility and other outcomes.

Future Research

The literature described in this review has laid a foundation and identified methods for isolating the economic effects of abortion. Future research should expand on this knowledge base by using recent updates in legal coding to examine effects beyond fertility, including education and employment outcomes. In addition, the substantial rise in abortion restrictions passed since most of this research was completed suggests that newer studies may find economic effects of state-level policies. As demonstrated by Ananat et al., selection effects may occur even when birth rates are unchanged. As access becomes more dependent on state of residence, future studies can explore the economic effects of laws such as parental notification policies.

As demonstrated in the findings, state laws such as Texas's HB2 had substantial effects on women's ability to access abortion. As TRAP laws, gestational restrictions, and other restrictive policies continue to be proposed and implemented, researchers should examine the economic impacts of limiting access by state. Because both the landscape of abortion access and the demographics of abortion patients have changed since the abortion reforms of the 1960s and 1970s, it is important to update the literature with how more contemporary changes to abortion access affect economic outcomes across race and other previously unexamined demographic differences, such as ethnicity and other factors.

Discussion

The studies presented here demonstrate the range of economic effects of abortion access. The availability of abortion affects not only immediate economic indicators, but education, employment, and wages across the span of a woman's life. In addition, these effects extend to the next generation, improving economic conditions during childhood and adulthood. This research uses rigorous econometric methods to provide causal links between abortion access and economic outcomes. By utilizing a quasi-experimental approach, the effects of abortion availability are isolated from other potential confounding factors. Many of these studies have the advantage of using large population-level datasets that not only have substantial sample sizes, but also do not suffer from the potential bias of underreported abortions. Of course, policies' economic effects that are found on the population level have important implications for the welfare of all Americans, even if they do not represent the experience of each individual.

Differential Impacts by Race

The evidence suggests that the economic effects of abortion are not uniform across all demographic groups. When broken down by race, research suggests that abortion access has greater economic impacts for Black women than White women (due to data restrictions, no other racial/ethnic backgrounds are considered in the studies). Abortion legalization led to significant increases in high school graduation, college entrance, and labor force participation—among Black women. Increases for White women were not statistically significant, meaning we cannot reject that there was no change. It is important to note, however, that Black women have historically worked outside of the home at much higher rates than White women, both before and after abortion legalization (DuMonthier and Childers 2017).

Why does research find greater economic benefits of abortion access among Black women? Statistics presented in Table 1 indicate that Black women have higher rates of unmet need for contraception, higher rates of unintended pregnancy, and report higher use of abortion. This was true in 1973 during the time of policy changes examined in many studies summarized here, and remains true today. Less access to contraception is likely to increase the potential impact of access to abortion. Black women are more likely to be living in poverty than White women and so generally face greater barriers to accessing reproductive health care, and are less able to overcome restrictions on abortion access.

These disparities stem from the broader environment of structural racism and oppression facing Black women in the United States. Throughout the history of the country, there have been efforts to control the fertility of women of color and low-income women, including through involuntary sterilization and financial incentives proposed in the 1990s for long-

acting contraception for public assistance recipients—and this legacy of reproductive coercion affects present-day interactions with health care providers (Rocca and Harper 2012; Thorburn and Bogart 2005; Gold 2014). Research has shown that providers are more likely to recommend intrauterine contraceptive devices to low-income women of color than low-income White women (Dehlendorf et al. 2010). These biases perpetuate mistrust of the health care system, and may deter women from seeking care.

Policy Implications: Are Effects from the 1970s Relevant Today?

Much of the evidence regarding economic outcomes relies on policy changes in the 1970s, raising the question of what these findings can tell us about the impact of abortion restrictions today. Table 1 presents a comparison of key statistics from 1973 and 2015-2017. We find that rates of unmet need for contraception have fallen, but nonetheless reports of unintended pregnancies have increased, and the race gap in this regard has remained constant, indicating that women's need for abortion services remains as high today as it was in the 1970s. Supporting this assertion are the studies that have examined impacts of major, modern-day restrictions on abortion access, finding significant impacts on birth rates and teen births.

In contrast, women's education has changed remarkably. High school completion rates are dramatically higher, reaching near universal rates and nearly closing the race gap. In addition, due to Title IX and its protections against sex discrimination along with other social changes, women with an unexpected birth during high school are more likely today than in the 1970s to continue to completion. Together, these suggest that abortion restrictions are unlikely to significantly affect high school completion rates today the way that legalization did in the 1970s. However, abortion policy today may still have a significant impact on college completion.

While college completion rates are significantly higher today than in the 1970s, they remain well below 50 percent and disparities by race and parent status persist. According to a report by IWPR, only 8 percent of single mothers graduate within six years, compared with 49 percent of women who are not single mothers (Gault, Milli, and Reichlin Cruse 2018). While Title IX also applies to college, there are fewer efforts to help pregnant students complete college (as compared to high school). Pregnancy may also stop women from enrolling in college. All of these factors suggest that an unexpected birth would act as a barrier to college completion, and evidence suggests that major, modern-day abortion restrictions are increasing unexpected births.

The relationship between childbearing and labor force participation has certainly evolved since the 1970s as well. As working mothers have become more socially acceptable and child care options have expanded, women's labor force participation rates have increased

since the 1970s. With rates hovering around 60 percent, however, childbearing is clearly still a factor in women's choices regarding paid work. In this regard, it seems likely that the impacts of abortion access on women's labor market activities would be comparable today to what was estimated based on policies in the 1970s.

As discussed in this review, despite legality, abortion access varies greatly by state. Since 2011, states have passed over 400 abortion restrictions (Nash et al. 2018). These restrictive policies, particularly parental involvement laws and bans on state Medicaid funding for abortion, inherently target lower-income and younger women. Considering that restrictive policies often disproportionately harm people experiencing economic insecurity, and because low-income women are over-represented among abortion patients, these laws are intrinsically tied to women's economic well-being (Jones and Jerman 2017b).

Nonetheless, the scale of changes in abortion access that occurred in the 1970s—from no legal access to full legal access nationwide in less than five years—are unlikely to be replicated again in the United States. Even if *Roe* were overturned, abortion would remain legal in some states, and other factors, such as improvements in information access (via the internet) and reduced transportation costs, would mean that intra-state abortion access would be higher than it was in the 1970s. In addition, expanded availability of self-induced abortion with medication means that illegal abortion would be safer and easier than in the pre-*Roe* environment. Overall, access nationwide is unlikely to return to the broadly low levels of the 1960s, but would instead be more restricted among specific groups of women.

For women in states with the most restrictive policies, especially women without the means to access abortion out-of-state, modern day restrictions can effectively eliminate access completely. As in the 1970s, women with low incomes will be disproportionately affected. In addition, given the demographics in the states where abortion access is most threatened, Black women are likely to be overrepresented among those losing abortion access. These restrictions will exacerbate poverty, as recent studies show that 40 to 50 percent of women who seek abortion do so for financial reasons (Biggs, Gould, and Foster 2013; Kirkman et al. 2009). Even the possible availability of self-induced abortion brings its own risks, with the potential criminalization of women who are suspected of self-induction; since *Roe*, various state laws have been used to prosecute women for self-management of abortion (Donovan 2018). These threats are likely greatest for women of color and poor women, who are already disproportionately criminalized.

Taken together, the evidence from 1970s policy changes has significant implications for today's policymaking. Abortion access will likely continue to impact women's education and labor market outcomes (and therefore the welfare of their children). While modern restrictions may impact fewer women than the illegality of abortion in the 1960s, the

impacts will be the greatest among women who are the most disadvantaged, acting to further increase inequality in the United States.

The findings from these papers, identifying causal relationships, provide even stronger evidence of the link between abortion access and economic outcomes. More equitable access to abortion care allows women to exercise greater agency over their body and their childbearing. This, in turn, enhances their ability to invest in their own human capital and improve their economic well-being. Conversely, restrictions on abortion access have the potential to harm women—and later generations—rather than help them. In particular, policies that restrict access based on economic status, such as bans on federal and state Medicaid funding for abortion (e.g., the Hyde Amendment), not only limit women's reproductive autonomy, but also further threaten their economic well-being. By passing policies that strengthen abortion access and allow funding for low-income women, states can reverse these effects and encourage economic stability for women and families.

Ultimately, the most significant consequence of policies affecting abortion is the ability for women to access the full range of reproductive health care and control their reproductive lives. The findings summarized here, however, indicate that policies that expand access to abortion not only enhance women's reproductive autonomy, but have economic benefits as well.

Table 1. Comparison of Fertility and Economic Outcomes Over Time, by Race and Ethnicity

		Women, by race and ethnicity			Difference, Black women relative to White women		
		White	Black	Hispanic	Asian	Percentage points	Percent
Rate of unmet need for	1973	32%	59%			27	84.00%
contraception (i)	2015-2017	16%	21%	20%		5	28.80%
contraception (i)	% change	-50%	-65%				
Share of pregnancies unintended (ii)	1973	34%	59%			25	74.30%
(in previous 5 years)	2015-2017	40%	61%	42%		21	52.20%
(iii previous 3 years)	% change	19%	4%				
		1					
Share of unintended pregnancies	1973	10%	11%			0.3	2.90%
not resulting in live birth (iii) (in previous 5 years)	2015-2017	40%	42%	26%		2	6.00%
Share of unintended pregnancies resulting in abortion (iv) (in previous 5 years)	2015-2017	12%	23%	9%		11	95.10%
	1973	8%	31%			23	287.50%
Share of population living in	2017	11%	21%	18%	10%	11	98.10%
poverty (v)	% change	34%	-32%				
Shows of warman and 25 20 with	1973	82%	65%			-17	-20.50%
Share of women aged 25-29 with 4yrs+ of high school (vi)	2017	94%	92%	85%	96%	-1.3	-1.40%
4yrs+ of high school (vi)	% change	15%	42%				
Share of women aged 25 20 with	1973	17%	9%			-8	-48.20%
Share of women aged 25-29 with 4yrs+ of college (vi) (as above)	2017	41%	24%	22%	66%	-17	-41.30%
	% change	139%	172%				
		1		1	1		
Women's labor force participation	1973	44%	52%	41%		8	18.60%
rate (vii) all women aged 20+	2017	58%	63%	59%		5	8.50%
Tate (Til) all trollien agea 201	% change	32%	21%	43%			

Table Notes: With the exception of labor force data, data from 1973 only classify women as Black or White in term of race. Fertility data from 2015-17 NSFG combine Asians with "all other races" besides Black, White, and Hispanic. Labor force participation rates for Asians are not disaggregated by gender. (i) Women not using any modern method as a share of women in need of contraception. Excluded categories include those pregnant, seeking pregnancy, infecund, and not sexually active. Source: National Survey of Family Growth data.(ii) Pregnancies are counted as unintended in 1973 if any of the following are reported: Pregnancy was wanted but respondent came to feel that way after pregnancy began; Pregnancy was unwanted and respondent felt that way before pregnancy began; Don't know, didn't care but probably not wanted; Pregnancy occurred sooner than wanted; Did not want another baby before became pregnant; Probably did not want another baby. In 2015-17 pregnancies are counted as unintended if any of the following are reported: right before pregnancy, did not want to have a baby at any time in the future; became pregnant sooner than wanted; right before pregnancy probably or definitely did not want to have a baby with that partner. Source: National Survey of Family Growth data. (ii) Fetal loss explicitly includes miscarriage, stillbirth, and induced abortion. Levels are not comparable across time periods as increases in early pregnancy detection make it likely that reporting of miscarriage has significantly increased over time. Race gaps are comparable over time. Source: National Survey of Family Growth data. (iv) Abortion is self-reported and known to be underreported. This was not asked in 1973. Source: National Survey of Family Growth data. (v) Source: Census.gov Historical Poverty Tables (Table 2) (link) (vi) Source: CPS Annual Social and Economic Supplement --"CPS Historical Time Series Tables' Table A-2 (link) (vii) Source: Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey" Bureau of Labor Statistics (link)

Appendix. Articles Reviewed

Study	Years of	Exposure(s)	Outcome(s)	Key findings
	exposure			
Ananat, Gruber, Levine, and Staiger (2009)	1970s	Abortion legalization	Characteristics of next generation as adults, including socioeconomic and labor market indicators, educational attainment, and incarceration	Changes in cohort composition for the subsequent generation after abortion legalization led to improved cohort outcomes, including higher rates of college graduation, lower rates of single parenthood, and lower rates of receipt of public assistance.
Angrist and Evans (2000)	1970s	1970 state abortion reforms	Fertility, marriage, schooling, and labor market outcomes of women	State abortion reforms reduced rates of teen marriage, teen fertility, and unmarried teen childbearing. Modest fertility changes did not translate into improved educational or labor market outcomes for White women, but Black women saw increased schooling and employment outcomes as a result.
Bloom, Canning, Fink, and Finlay (2009)	1970-2000	Fertility (using abortion legalization as an instrument)	Female labor force participation (country-level)	Removing legal restrictions on abortion reduced fertility, and on average, each birth to a woman reduces her labor supply by 2 years.
Borelli (2011)	1980s-1990s	Abortion legalization and parental involvement laws	Long-term indicators for minors, including fertility, educational attainment, and labor market outcomes	Higher fertility (particularly for Black women) is found when parental involvement laws are in effect, even more so when laws are also in effect in surrounding states. There was a larger effect on decreased educational attainment for Black women, and some small effects found for labor market outcomes.
Clarke and Mühlrad (2016)	2007	Abortion legalization in Mexico City, and increased sanctions on abortion in 18 other Mexican states	Fertility, sexual behavior, and female empowerment (a self-reported measure of being involved in important decisions in the household)	Abortion legalization reduced fertility, with a larger reduction among adolescents, and increased women's role in household decision-making. The reverse was not found to be true for the increase in punitive measures in other states. These changes were found to be driven by increased utilization of abortion rather than changes to sexual behavior or contraceptive use or knowledge.
Fischer, Royer, and White (2018)	2011-2014	Texas HB2 and family planning funding cuts in Texas	Abortion use, births, and purchases of emergency contraception and condoms	Birth rates increased in counties that no longer had an abortion provider within 50 miles, as well as in counties that no longer had family planning clinics within 25 miles. Abortions to Texas residents fell over this period.

Study	Years of	Exposure(s)	Outcome(s)	Key findings
Foster, Biggs, Raifman, Gipson, and Rocca (2018)	2008-2010	Being born after denial of abortion (turned away due to clinic term limits) vs subsequent to an abortion	Perinatal outcomes and child health, child development, maternal bonding, socioeconomics, and household structure	Index children (those born to women who were denied an abortion), compared to children born to a new pregnancy subsequent to a received abortion, were more likely to live in lower-income households and to live in households without enough money for basic expenses. Children born after denial of abortion were more likely to have poor maternal bonding.
Foster, Raifman, Gipson, Rocca, and Biggs (2018)	2008-2010	Existing children of: women who were denied an abortion (turned away due to clinic term limits) vs those who received an abortion	Child development, health, socioeconomic wellbeing, and caregiving outcomes of women's youngest living child (five years of age and younger at the time of recruitment)	Existing children of women who were denied an abortion were more likely to live below the FPL and had lower mean child development scores than the existing children of women who received a wanted abortion.
Gruber, Levine, and Staiger (1999)	1970-1973	Abortion legalization	Characteristics of next generation as children, including living circumstances of cohorts (living in a single-parent household, poverty, collecting welfare, infant mortality) and effects for the "marginal child"—the child that would have been born if not for legalization of abortion	Due to changing birth compositions, cohorts born after legalized abortion were less likely to live in single-parent households, and as a result less likely to live in poverty and less likely to receive public assistance. The marginal child not born due to abortion access would have had much higher odds of living in a single-parent household, living in poverty, and receiving public assistance.
Joyce, Kaestner, and Colman (2006)	2000	Parental involvement laws in Texas	Abortion rate and birth rate	The Texas parental notification law was associated with a decrease in the rates of abortion for 15 to 17 year olds. For a subgroup of individuals who were older minors at the time of conception, birth rates and odds of a second-trimester abortion also increased.
Kalist (2004)	1970s	Abortion legalization	Female labor force participation	Abortion legalization reduced fertility rates, and as a result, increased female labor force participation rates—particularly for Black women.

Study	Years of exposure	Exposure(s)	Outcome(s)	Key findings
Lindo, Myers, Schlosser, and Cunningham (2017)	2013-2016	Texas HB2	Abortion rates, clinic access, and births	For women who initially lived with 200 miles of a clinic, there were substantial decreases in abortion rates. Congestion at remaining clinics also contributed to reduced access, and to a shift to later gestational age for abortions that did occur.
Mølland (2014)	1969-1972	Abortion legalization in Oslo	Teen childbearing, fertility at older ages, educational attainment, and labor market outcomes for women affected by abortion legalization. Similar outcomes are examined for the subsequent generation.	Abortion legalization led to lower rates of teen fertility and higher age at first birth. Teen abortion access led to increased labor market attachment at younger ages but decreased attachment later in life. In the next generation, access led to lower rates of teen pregnancy and receipt of public assistance, with some improved educational outcomes.
Myers (2017)	1970s	Abortion legalization and parental involvement laws (and re- examination of contraception policies)	First birth before age 19, first marriage before age 19, and shotgun marriage (marriage with a birth occurring less than 8 months later). Myers also replicates earlier models of fertility and marriage effects.	Abortional legalization substantially reduced probability of birth, marriage, and shotgun marriage before age 19. Using her revised legal coding, Myers finds little effect of the pill for these outcomes but significant effects from abortion on marriage outcomes when replicating analyses from Goldin and Katz (2002). Similar results are found for fertility outcomes when replicating analyses originally conducted by Bailey (2006, 2009) and Bailey et al. (2013).
Myers and Ladd (2017) Pop-Eleches (2006)	1992-2017	Parental involvement laws Abortion ban in Romania	Abortion use, teen births, distance to confidential abortion Educational and labor outcomes of children born after the implementation of the ban	Post-Casey (1992) parental involvement laws have increased teen birth rates and avoidance distance to a confidential abortion. As a result of Romania's abortion ban, birth rates doubled and the composition of births changed. This led to improved educational and labor market outcomes for the subsequent generations. However, when controlling for various background characteristics, generations born after the ban actually had poorer educational and labor market outcomes as adults.
Whitaker	1970s	Abortion legalization	High school graduation among the next generation	Higher abortion ratios were associated with higher high school graduation rates for Black men, but not other demographic groups. On the aggregate, abortion had a negative effect on graduation rates, but this effect disappears when controlling for ethnicity.

References

- Ananat, Elizabeth Oltmans, Jonathan Gruber, and Phillip Levine. 2007. "Abortion Legalization and Life-Cycle Fertility." *The Journal of Human Resources* 42 (2): 375–97.
- Ananat, Elizabeth Oltmans, Jonathan Gruber, Phillip B. Levine, and Douglas Staiger. 2009. "Abortion and Selection." *Review of Economics & Statistics* 91 (1): 124–36.
- Angrist, Joshua D. and William N. Evans. 2000. "Schooling and Labor Market Consequences of the 1970 State Abortion Reforms." In *Research in Labor Economics*, 75–113. Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- ANSIRH. 2019. *Introduction to the Turnaway Study*. UCSF. https://www.ansirh.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/turnaway-intro_1-14-2019.pdf (accessed April 4, 2019).
- Biggs, M Antonia, Heather Gould, and Diana Greene Foster. 2013. "Understanding Why Women Seek Abortions in the US." *BMC Women's Health* 13 (July): 29. doi:10.1186/1472-6874-13-29.
- Bloom, David E., David Canning, Günther Fink, and Jocelyn E. Finlay. 2009. "Fertility, Female Labor Force Participation, and the Demographic Dividend." *Journal of Economic Growth* 14 (2): 79–101.
- Borelli, Sara. 2011. "Essays on Economic Aspects of Abortion in the United States." Ph.D., United States -- Illinois: University of Illinois at Chicago. http://search.proquest.com/docview/904572422/abstract/48F54E57B23E4172P Q/1> (accessed November 6, 2018).
- Clarke, Damian and Hanna Mühlrad. 2016. *The Impact of Abortion Legalization on Fertility and Female Empowerment: New Evidence from Mexico*. Centre for the Study of African Economies, University of Oxford.
- Cook, Philip J., Allan M. Parnell, Michael J. Moore, and Deanna Pagnini. 1999. "The Effects of Short-Term Variation in Abortion Funding on Pregnancy Outcomes." *Journal of Health Economics* 18 (2): 241–57. doi:10.1016/S0167-6296(98)00048-4.
- Dehlendorf, Christine, Rachel Ruskin, Kevin Grumbach, Eric Vittinghoff, Kirsten Bibbins-Domingo, Dean Schillinger, and Jody Steinauer. 2010. "Recommendations for Intrauterine Contraception: A Randomized Trial of the Effects of Patients' Race/Ethnicity and Socioeconomic Status." *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 203 (4): 319.e1-319.e8. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.05.009.
- Dennis, Amanda, Stanley K Henshaw, Theodore Joyce, Lawrence B. Finer, and Kelly Blanchard. 2009. "The Impact of Laws Requiring Parental Involvement for Abortion: A Literature Review," 44.
- Donovan, M. K. 2018. "Self-Managed Medication Abortion: Expanding the Available Options for US Abortion Care." *Guttmacher Policy Rev* 21: 41–7.

- DuMonthier, Asha and Chandra Childers. 2017. *The Status of Black Women in the United States*. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research. http://statusofwomendata.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/SOBW_report2017_compressed.pdf (accessed June 29, 2018).
- Fergusson, David M., Joseph M. Boden, and L. John Horwood. 2007. "Abortion among Young Women and Subsequent Life Outcomes." *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 39 (1): 6–12.
- Finer, Lawrence B. and Mia R. Zolna. 2016. "Declines in Unintended Pregnancy in the United States, 2008–2011." *New England Journal of Medicine* 374 (9): 843–52. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1506575.
- Fischer, Stefanie, Heather Royer, and Corey White. 2018. "The Impacts of Reduced Access to Abortion and Family Planning Services on Abortions, Births, and Contraceptive Purchases." *Journal of Public Economics* 167 (November): 43–68. doi:10.1016/j.jpubeco.2018.08.009.
- Foster, Diana Greene, M. Antonia Biggs, Sarah Raifman, Jessica Gipson, Katrina Kimport, and Corinne H. Rocca. 2018. "Comparison of Health, Development, Maternal Bonding, and Poverty Among Children Born After Denial of Abortion vs After Pregnancies Subsequent to an Abortion." *JAMA Pediatrics* 172 (11): 1053–60. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1785.
- Foster, Diana Greene, M. Antonia Biggs, Lauren Ralph, Caitlin Gerdts, Sarah Roberts, and M. Maria Glymour. 2018. "Socioeconomic Outcomes of Women Who Receive and Women Who Are Denied Wanted Abortions in the United States." *American Journal of Public Health* 108 (3): 407–13. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.304247.
- Foster, Diana Greene, Sarah E. Raifman, Jessica D. Gipson, Corinne H. Rocca, and M. Antonia Biggs. 2018. "Effects of Carrying an Unwanted Pregnancy to Term on Women's Existing Children." *The Journal of Pediatrics*, October. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.09.026.
- Fuentes, Liza, Sharon Lebenkoff, Kari White, Caitlin Gerdts, Kristine Hopkins, Joseph E. Potter, and Daniel Grossman. 2016. "Women's Experiences Seeking Abortion Care Shortly after the Closure of Clinics Due to a Restrictive Law in Texas,." *Contraception* 93 (4): 292–97. doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2015.12.017.
- Gault, Barbara, Jessica Milli, and Lindsey Reichlin Cruse. 2018. *Investing in Single Mothers' Higher Education: Costs and Benefits to Individuals, Families, and Society*. Report, IWPR #C468. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research. https://iwpr.org/publications/investing-single-mothers-higher-ed/ (accessed June 7, 2018).
- Gerdts, Caitlin, Liza Fuentes, Daniel Grossman, Kari White, Brianna Keefe-Oates, Sarah E. Baum, Kristine Hopkins, Chandler W. Stolp, and Joseph E. Potter. 2016. "Impact of Clinic Closures on Women Obtaining Abortion Services After Implementation of

- a Restrictive Law in Texas." *American Journal of Public Health* 106 (5): 857–64. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303134.
- Gius, Mark Paul. 2007. "The Impact of Provider Availability and Legal Restrictions on the Demand for Abortions by Young Women." *The Social Science Journal* 44 (3): 495–506. doi:10.1016/j.soscij.2007.07.015.
- Gober, Patricia. 1997. "The Role of Access in Explaining State Abortion Rates." *Social Science & Medicine* 44 (7): 1003–16. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(96)00226-2.
- Gold, Rachel Benson. 2014. "Guarding Against Coercion While Ensuring Access: A Delicate Balance." *Guttmacher Policy Review* 17 (3): 7.
- Grossman, Daniel, Kari White, Kristine Hopkins, and Joseph E. Potter. 2017. "Change in Distance to Nearest Facility and Abortion in Texas, 2012 to 2014." *JAMA* 317 (4): 437. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.17026.
- Gruber, Jonathan, Phillip Levine, and Douglas Staiger. 1999. "Abortion Legalization and Child Living Circumstances: Who Is the 'Marginal Child'?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 114 (1): 263–91. doi:10.1162/003355399556007.
- Guldi, Melanie. 2008. "Fertility Effects of Abortion and Birth Control Pill Access for Minors." *Demography* 45 (4): 817–27. doi:10.1353/dem.0.0026.
- Haas-Wilson, Deborah. 1996. "The Impact of State Abortion Restrictions on Minors' Demand for Abortions." *The Journal of Human Resources* 31 (1): 140–58. doi:10.2307/146045.
- Jerman, Jenna, Rachel K Jones, and Tsuyoshi Onda. 2016. "Characteristics of U.S. Abortion Patients in 2014 and Changes Since 2008," 29.
- Jones, Rachel K and Jenna Jerman. 2017a. "Abortion Incidence and Service Availability In the United States, 2014." *Guttmacher Institute*. January 11. https://www.guttmacher.org/journals/psrh/2017/01/abortion-incidence-and-service-availability-united-states-2014 (accessed March 15, 2019).
- Jones, Rachel K. and Jenna Jerman. 2017b. "Population Group Abortion Rates and Lifetime Incidence of Abortion: United States, 2008–2014." *American Journal of Public Health* 107 (12): 1904–9. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.304042.
- Joyce, Ted, Ruoding Tan, and Yuxiu Zhang. 2013. "Abortion before & after Roe." *Journal of Health Economics* 32 (5): 804–15. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2013.05.004.
- Joyce, Theodore, Robert Kaestner, and Silvie Colman. 2006. "Changes in Abortions and Births and the Texas Parental Notification Law." *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 9.
- Kalist, David E. 2004. "Abortion and Female Labor Force Participation: Evidence Prior to Roe v. Wade." *Journal of Labor Research* 25 (3): 503–14. doi:10.1007/s12122-004-1028-3.
- Kirkman, Maggie, Heather Rowe, Annarella Hardiman, Shelley Mallett, and Doreen Rosenthal. 2009. "Reasons Women Give for Abortion: A Review of the Literature." *Archives of Women's Mental Health* 12 (6): 365–78. doi:10.1007/s00737-009-0084-3.

- Levine, Phillip B. 2003. "Parental Involvement Laws and Fertility Behavior." *Journal of Health Economics* 22 (5): 861–78. doi:10.1016/S0167-6296(03)00063-8.
- Levine, Phillip B., Douglas Staiger, Thomas J. Kane, and David Zimmerman. 1999. "Roe v Wade and American Fertility." *American Journal of Public Health* 89 (2): 199–203. doi:10.2105/AJPH.89.2.199.
- Lindo, Jason, Caitlin Myers, Andrea Schlosser, and Scott Cunningham. 2017. *How Far Is Too Far? New Evidence on Abortion Clinic Closures, Access, and Abortions* (w23366). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. doi:10.3386/w23366.
- Matthews, Stephen, David Ribar, and Mark Wilhelm. 1997. "The Effects of Economic Conditions and Access to Reproductive Health Services On State Abortion Rates and Birthrates." *Family Planning Perspectives* 29 (2): 52–60. doi:10.2307/2953362.
- Meier, K. J. and D. R. McFarlane. 1994. "State Family Planning and Abortion Expenditures: Their Effect on Public Health." *American Journal of Public Health* 84 (9): 1468–72.
- Mølland, Eirin. 2016. "Benefits from Delay? The Effect of Abortion Availability on Young Women and Their Children." *Labour Economics* 43 (December): 6–28. doi:10.1016/j.labeco.2016.06.011.
- Morgan, S. Philip and Allan M. Parnell. 2002. "Effects on Pregnancy Outcomes of Changes in the North Carolina State Abortion Fund." *Population Research and Policy Review* 21 (4): 319–38.
- Myers, Caitlin Knowles. 2017. "Confidential and Legal Access to Abortion and Contraception, 1960–2017." *Manuscript, Middlebury Coll*.
- Myers, Caitlin and Daniel Ladd. 2017. "Did Parental Involvement Laws Grow Teeth? The Effects of State Restrictions on Minors' Access to Abortion," 49.
- Nash, Elizabeth, Rachel Benson Gold, Lizamarie Mohammed, Zohra Ansari-Thomas, and Olivia Cappello. 2018. "Policy Trends in the States, 2017." *Guttmacher Institute*. January 2. https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2018/01/policy-trends-states-2017 (accessed November 28, 2018).
- Pop-Eleches, Cristian. 2006. "The Impact of an Abortion Ban on Socioeconomic Outcomes of Children: Evidence from Romania." *Journal of Political Economy* 114 (4): 744–73. doi:10.1086/506336.
- Rocca, Corinne H. and Cynthia C. Harper. 2012. "Do Racial and Ethnic Differences in Contraceptive Attitudes and Knowledge Explain Disparities In Method Use?" *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 44 (3): 150–58. doi:10.1363/4415012.
- Shaw, Elyse, Ariane Hegewisch, Emma Williams-Baron, and Barbara Gault. 2016. *Undervalued and Underpaid in America: Women in Low-Wage, Female-Dominated Jobs*.

 Report, IWPR #D508. Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

 http://www.iwpr.org/publications/pubs/undervalued-and-underpaid-in-america-women-in-low-wage-female-dominated-jobs.

- Sklar, J. and B. Berkov. 1974. "Abortion, Illegitimacy, and the American Birth Rate." *Science* 185 (4155): 909–15. doi:10.1126/science.185.4155.909.
- Sonfield, Adam, Kinsey Hasstedt, Megan Kavanaugh, and Ragnar Anderson. 2013. "The Social and Economic Benefits of Women's Ability To Determine Whether and When to Have Children." Alan Guttmacher Institute.

 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1820741280/?pq-origsite=primo (accessed October 17, 2018).
- Thorburn, Sheryl and Laura M. Bogart. 2005. "African American Women and Family Planning Services: Perceptions of Discrimination." *Women & Health* 42 (1): 23–39. doi:10.1300/J013v42n01_02.
- Whitaker, Stephan. 2011. "The Impact of Legalized Abortion on High School Graduation through Selection and Composition." *Economics of Education Review* 30 (2): 228–46. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2010.09.001.
- Zabin, Laurie Schwab, Marilyn B. Hirsch, and Mark R. Emerson. 1989. "When Urban Adolescents Choose Abortion: Effects on Education, Psychological Status and Subsequent Pregnancy." *Family Planning Perspectives* 21 (6): 248–55. doi:10.2307/2135377.